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Recent FCPA Enforcement Action 
BY TIMOTHY L. DICKINSON, WILLIAM F. PENDERGAST, JENNIFER D. RIDDLE AND PAULA R. KATZ 

February 11, 2009, KBR, Inc. (“KBR”) reached 
settlements resolving criminal and civil liabilities 
for violations by its subsidiary Kellogg, Brown & 
Root LLC (“KBR LLC”) under the Foreign Corrupt 
Practices Act (“FCPA”).  The conduct leading to 
these violations occurred from approximately 1994 
to 2004, before KBR became independent in April 
2007 from its prior parent, Halliburton Company 
(“Halliburton”).  Below, we outline the background 
of the conduct leading to the charges and the 
settlement terms, as well as a discussion of the 
unique aspects of this particular FCPA enforcement 
action.     

Background 

KBR LLC is the successor entity to all of the 
relevant assets and liabilities of the M.W. Kellogg 
Company and Kellogg, Brown & Root, LLC.  Prior to 
September 1998, the M.W. Kellogg Company was 
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Dresser Industries, 
Inc.  In September 1998, Dresser Industries, Inc. 
was merged into Halliburton.  In December 1998, 
a Halliburton subsidiary named Brown & Root, Inc. 
changed its name to Kellogg, Brown & Root, Inc., 
and M.W. Kellogg merged into Kellogg, Brown & 
Root, Inc. in January 1999.  In March 2006, KBR, 
Inc. was incorporated in Delaware, followed by an 
initial public offering in November 2006.  
Halliburton maintained a majority of KBR, Inc. 
stock until April 2007, when it exchanged with its 
shareholders all of its KBR, Inc. stock.  On April 5, 
2007, Halliburton completed the split-off of KBR, 
Inc. and KBR, Inc. became an independent 
publicly-traded company.  As part of the planned 

spin-off of KBR, Halliburton and KBR, Inc. entered 
into a Master Separation Agreement in November 
2006. Included in the Master Separation 
Agreement is Halliburton’s commitment to 
indemnify KBR against certain potential liabilities, 
including monetary penalties and fines resulting 
from a “Governmental FCPA Claim.”  The Master 
Separation Agreement also provides Halliburton 
the right to control the defense and settlement of 
the FCPA investigation. 

KBR LLC and its predecessors provide engineering, 
procurement, and construction (“EPC”) services 
globally, including the design and construction of 
liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) production plants.  
Beginning in 1991, KBR LLC’s predecessor 
companies partnered with three other EPC 
companies to form a joint venture for the 
construction of an LNG production facility on Bonny 
Island, Nigeria (the “Bonny Island Project”).  The 
joint venture was shared equally by the four 
partners, with each holding 25 percent (the “Joint 
Venture”).  The Joint Venture was run through 
three Portuguese special purpose corporations, the 
third of which held several contracts with third-
party consultants on behalf of the Joint Venture.  
The U.S. Department of Justice (“DOJ”) and U.S. 
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) 
(collectively, hereinafter the “Government”) stated 
that the Joint Venture used these contracts with 
third-party consultants in order to make improper 
payments to Nigerian officials to assist the Joint 
Venture in obtaining the contracts for the Bonny 
Island Project. 
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The first consultant in question was a Gibraltar 
corporation, used by a U.K. citizen (“Consultant 
A”) to enter into contracts and receive payments 
from the Joint Venture in order to offer and make 
improper payments to Nigerian officials in 
connection with winning the Bonny Island Project.  
The Government states that between 1994 and 
2004, the Joint Venture paid over $130 million to 
Consultant A for use in making improper payments 
to Nigerian officials.  In addition, the Government 
states that the Joint Venture engaged a Japanese 
company as a consultant (“Consultant B”) to help 
it win business in Nigeria by offering and making 
over $50 million in improper payments to Nigerian 
officials.  The Information filed with the settlement 
documents states that Consultant A was used by 
the Joint Venture to make improper payments to 
“top-level” officials, while Consultant B was used to 
make improper payments to “lower-level” officials. 

The Joint Venture was awarded the Bonny Island 
Project in 1995, and from that time until 2004, the 
project consisted of four phases in which the Joint 
Venture built and commissioned the “trains,” or 
the infrastructure used to pipe raw natural gas 
from wellheads, convert it to LNG, and deliver the 
LNG to a tanker.  The first phase, which was 
awarded to the Joint Venture resulting from a 
competitive tender, consisted of Trains 1 and 2.  
Train 3, Trains 4 and 5, and Train 6 made up the 
remaining three phases and were all sole-sourced.  
In total, the contracts for building these six trains 
have been valued at over $6 billion.   

The Stanley Settlements 

On September 3, 2008, Albert “Jack” Stanley, 
pleaded guilty to FCPA violations in connection 
with the Bonny Island Project and other activities.  
At various times between 1994 and 2004, Mr. 
Stanley served as CEO and Chairman of KBR LLC 
and its predecessor companies.  Although he is no 
longer affiliated with KBR in any way, Mr. Stanley’s 
conduct is central in the FCPA violations for which 
KBR LLC is now being held liable.  In particular, 
Mr. Stanley’s Plea Agreement states that Mr. 
Stanley held “cultural meetings” with other KBR 
and Joint Venture employees and officers.  During 

these “cultural meetings,” the Joint Venture 
allegedly made plans to use the consultants 
discussed above to make improper payments to 
Nigerian government officials to obtain their 
assistance in helping the Joint Venture win the 
Bonny Island Project contracts.  The consultants’ 
contracts provided for payment of commission 
fees, which were used to make improper payments 
to Nigerian officials, in exchange for vaguely-
written services, such as marketing and advisory 
services.  Mr. Stanley, with other KBR and Joint 
Venture employees, met with successive senior 
Nigerian government officials and negotiated 
payment amounts with their representatives.  

Mr. Stanley also undertook a kickback scheme with 
a former KBR employee and consultant in which 
Mr. Stanley would arrange for the former 
employee to win lucrative consulting contracts with 
KBR and then the consultant would “kick back” a 
portion of the consulting fees to Mr. Stanley.  The 
total fees paid to the consultant under the scheme 
are estimated at $48.3 million, with Mr. Stanley 
receiving about $10.8 million in kickbacks that he 
concealed from the Company in Swiss bank 
accounts. 

Mr. Stanley ultimately pleaded guilty to a two-
count criminal information charging him with 
conspiracy to violate the FCPA and conspiracy to 
commit mail and wire fraud.  Under the plea 
agreement accepted by the court, Mr. Stanley 
faces seven years in prison and a restitution 
payment of $10.8 million.  In a related civil 
enforcement proceeding, the SEC filed a final 
judgment in which Mr. Stanley consented to a 
permanent injunction from violating the anti-
bribery, record-keeping and internal control 
provisions of Securities Exchange Act of 1934 
(Sections 30A and 13(b)(5) and Rule 13b2-1). 

The Company’s Settlements 

Terms of the DOJ Settlement 

KBR LLC agreed to plead guilty to one count of 
conspiracy (18 U.S.C. § 371) to violate the FCPA 
(15 U.S.C. § 78dd-1) and four counts of 
substantive FCPA (15 U.S.C. § 78dd-2) violations.  
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Count 1 states that KBR LLC participated in a 
conspiracy from 1994 to 2004 along with the other 
Joint Venture partners; Counts 2 and 3 are based 
on intended improper payments paid through 
commissions to Consultant A; Counts 4 and 5 are 
based on intended improper payments paid 
through commissions to Consultant B.   

Sentencing Guidelines 

As set forth in the Plea Agreement, the DOJ set the 
base fine at $235.5 million, corresponding to the 
value of the benefit received or to be received in 
return for unlawful payments or pecuniary gain.  
The DOJ calculated a culpability score of 8 in 
consideration of the following factors: (a) base 
culpability score (5); (b) KBR LLC had more than 
5,000 employees, and high-level individual 
personnel participated in the violations (5); (c) the 
Company fully cooperated in the investigation and 
demonstrated acceptance of responsibility for the 
conduct (-2).   The DOJ used multipliers of 1.6/3.5 
to calculate the criminal penalty range as $376.8 
million to $753.6 million.  The parties agreed to a 
total criminal penalty of $402 million to be paid in 
quarterly installments from the date of settlement 
until October 2010.  Pursuant to the terms of the 
Master Separation Agreement between Halliburton 
and KBR, Halliburton will pay $382 million, while 
KBR will pay $20 million.   

As part of KBR LLC’s criminal sentence, the parties 
agreed to a three-year organizational probation, 
which includes KBR’s retention of an independent 
corporate monitor.  The terms and conditions for 
the monitor essentially include the obligation to 
assess KBR’s compliance with the plea agreement 
and evaluating KBR’s FCPA compliance program 
over a three year period, with periodic reports by 
the monitor to the DOJ.  

KBR has agreed to cooperate in the DOJ’s 
continuing investigation and prosecution of other 
companies and individuals involved in LNG 
contracts.   

The Plea Agreement resolves all criminal charges 
in the DOJ’s investigation into the conduct of KBR 
LLC as described in the Statement of Facts, 

conduct that was disclosed or known to the DOJ 
before this settlement, and bid-rigging conduct 
that was disclosed or known by the DOJ before the 
settlement.  The disposition also resolves any 
charges the Antitrust Division of the DOJ could 
bring against KBR based on allegations of bid-
rigging on LNG projects globally going back into 
the early 1990s.   

Terms of the SEC Settlement 

The SEC’s Complaint names KBR, Inc. as 
defendant because it is the issuing company and 
the parent to KBR LLC, and Halliburton, as the 
parent company at the time of the conduct.  KBR 
and Halliburton each consented to their own Final 
Judgments.   

The Halliburton Final Judgment is a civil action and 
orders an injunction against Halliburton, enjoining 
the company from engaging in conduct that 
violates two separate FCPA provisions: 

• Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. § 
78m(b)(2)(A)), which pertains to the 
company knowingly falsifying books and 
records; and 

• Section 13(b)(2)(B) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. § 
78m(b)(2)(B)), which pertains to the 
company knowingly circumventing internal 
controls. 

The SEC’s Final Judgment relating to Halliburton 
orders Halliburton to engage an independent 
consultant to review and evaluate Halliburton’s 
anti-bribery and foreign agent internal controls, 
record-keeping, and financial reporting policies and 
procedures as they relate to the provisions of the 
FCPA. 

The SEC’s Final Judgment relating to KBR is also a 
civil action and orders an injunction against KBR 
(and through KBR, KBR LLC), enjoining the 
companies from engaging in conduct that violates 
four separate FCPA provisions: 
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• Section 30A of the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934 (15 U.S.C. § 78dd-1), which 
pertains to corruption of foreign officials; 

• Section 13(b)(2)(A) (15 U.S.C. § 
78m(b)(2)(A)), which again pertains to the 
company knowingly falsifying books and 
records; 

• Section 13(b)(2)(B) (15 U.S.C. § 
78m(b)(2)(B)), which again pertains to the 
company knowingly circumventing internal 
controls; and 

• Section 13(b)(5) (15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(5)), 
which pertains to the company knowingly 
circumventing, or failing to implement a 
system of internal controls, or knowingly 
falsifying records. 

The SEC’s Final Judgment relating to KBR also 
orders an independent corporate monitor for KBR.  
As discussed in greater detail below, the terms and 
conditions contained in the SEC settlement differ 
somewhat from the terms and conditions 
contained in the DOJ Settlement.  

The Final Judgment does not order the companies 
to pay fines.  It does, however, provide for other 
remedies, such as disgorgement of profit.  Again, 
pursuant to the Master Separation Agreement 
between Halliburton and KBR, Halliburton will pay 
$177 million in profits and prejudgment interest 
based on the LNG contracts on Bonny Island, 
Trains 1 through 5.  KBR will not make any 
contribution to the SEC settlement amount. 

Points Of Interest 

(1) Large Fines 

The KBR settlements strike similar chords with 
other recent FCPA enforcement actions.  In 
particular, at the end of 2008, Siemens AG 
(Siemens), pleaded guilty to violating the internal 
controls and books and records provisions of the 
FCPA, and reached an $800 million settlement with 
the DOJ and SEC.  The fines—imposed on the basis 
of an alleged $1.36 billion in bribes to foreign 

officials around the world—represent the largest 
penalty to date in FCPA enforcement.  Although 
the total KBR penalty, at $402 million, is not as 
large as the Siemens penalty, both matters 
indicate that enforcement authorities are 
progressively exacting increasingly hefty fines for 
corruption.  The lesson for corporations: expect to 
pay heavily for FCPA violations, especially if the 
corruption reaches the company’s senior 
executives, as was the case in both KBR and 
Siemens.  Although both corporations have since 
overhauled their leadership, the FCPA violations in 
both companies were perpetrated by senior 
leaders.  Clearly, while enforcement actions 
against individuals are on the rise, enforcement 
authorities are also taking steps to ensure that 
corporations also bear significant liability for the 
actions of corrupt executives and company leaders 
who fail to comply with the law. 

(2) International Cooperation 

The level of international involvement in the 
investigation of the KBR matter indicates that 
foreign regulators are increasingly moving toward 
a higher level of cooperation and enforcement 
against corruption.  There are ongoing 
investigations, some more active than others, with 
respect to the Bonny Island Project in the U.K., 
France, Italy, Japan, Switzerland, and Nigeria.  In 
the Siemens matter discussed above, international 
enforcement agencies worked closely throughout 
the investigation.  Indeed, on the same day that 
Siemens pleaded guilty to FCPA violations in the 
U.S., the company also entered into an agreement 
with the Munich Public Prosecutor’s office on 
similar charges.  The cooperation of foreign 
regulators apparently played a part in the U.S. 
authorities’ FCPA investigation of KBR as well in 
the collection of foreign evidence, including 
banking and payment documents.  Foreign 
enforcement actions and investigations are 
ongoing in countries such as Ireland, Italy, the 
Netherlands, France, and the U.K., and we expect 
that they will only increase.  Notably, U.S. 
enforcement agencies have stated that they will 
take into account what foreign regulators are doing 
in assessing their own enforcement actions. 
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(3) The Corporate Monitor  

Finally, as with many other recent FCPA 
enforcement actions, KBR’s settlements include 
the imposition of an independent corporate 
monitor.  While the monitor terms and conditions 
are for the most part “standard”, there are some 
differences between the DOJ and SEC settlements.  
First, both agreements require KBR to engage the 
monitor for a three year term and provide that the 
monitor shall conduct an initial review and two 
follow-up reviews.   The DOJ’s term includes some 
flexibility in that it allows the monitor to apply for 
permission to forego the second of two follow-up 
reviews should the monitor and KBR mutually 
agree that further monitoring is not warranted.  
Second, while the SEC and DOJ require similar 
qualifications for the monitor, the selection process 
differs between the two government agencies.  
Pursuant to its settlement with the DOJ, KBR will 
propose a pool of three candidates from whom the 
DOJ may select KBR’s preference for the monitor.  
For the SEC, KBR will propose a single candidate 
that the SEC will consider for the approval as the 
monitor.  Thus, KBR’s settlements show that the 

two agencies may take slightly different 
approaches to the monitorship component of 
settlement.  This will likely be an issue that 
companies will want to watch in the future.       

Conclusion 

The KBR settlements come as a result of five years 
of internal and governmental investigation and 
negotiation.  The large penalty amounts are a 
result of improper payments and the level to which 
the corrupt scheme permeated the Company’s 
management.  Foreign regulators are continuing 
with their own investigations, but cooperated with 
the U.S. agencies.  Going forward, the KBR 
settlement demonstrates continued vigorous 
enforcement by regulators worldwide and 
reinforces the need for corporations to design and 
maintain equally vigorous compliance programs to 
prevent such issues from arising.  

Paul Hastings represented KBR in their settlement. 
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Los Angeles 
 
Thomas A. Zaccaro 
213-683-6285 
thomaszaccaro@paulhastings.com 
 
Shanghai 
 
K. Lesli Ligorner 
86-21-6103-2968 
lesliligorner@paulhastings.com 

Washington, D.C. 

 
Timothy L. Dickinson 
202-551-1858 
timothydickinson@paulhastings.com  
 
William F. Pendergast 
202-551-1865 
billpendergast@paulhastings.com 

 
Jennifer D. Riddle 
202-551-1805 
jenniferriddle@paulhastings.com 
 

 
To learn more about our FCPA practice group and professionals, please follow this link. 

18 Offices Worldwide Paul, Hastings, Janofsky & Walker LLP www.paulhastings.com 

StayCurrent is published solely for the interests of friends and clients of Paul, Hastings, Janofsky & Walker LLP and should in no way be relied upon or construed as legal 

advice. The views expressed in this publication reflect those of the authors and not necessarily the views of Paul Hastings. For specific information on recent 
developments or particular factual situations, the opinion of legal counsel should be sought. These materials may be considered ATTORNEY ADVERTISING in some 
jurisdictions. Paul Hastings is a limited liability partnership. Copyright © 2009 Paul, Hastings, Janofsky & Walker LLP. 

IRS Circular 230 Disclosure: As required by U.S. Treasury Regulations governing tax practice, you are hereby advised that any written tax advice contained herein or 
attached was not written or intended to be used (and cannot be used) by any taxpayer for the purpose of avoiding penalties that may be imposed under the 
U.S. Internal Revenue Code. 

mailto:thomaszaccaro@paulhastings.com
mailto:lesliligorner@paulhastings.com
mailto:timothydickinson@paulhastings.com
mailto:billpendergast@paulhastings.com
mailto:jenniferriddle@paulhastings.com
http://www.paulhastings.com
http://www.paulhastings.com/PracticeAreaDetail.aspx?PracticeAreaId=88

